FILED March 31, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 74062-8-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHING DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
CHRISTOPHER ACKLEY,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY
The Honorable Susan K. Cook, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT
EDIC I NII

ERIC J. NIELSEN Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense.
- 2. Appellant's due process rights were violated where the court refused to instruct the jury on self-defense.
- 3. The trial court erred when it excluded evidence relevant to appellant's experiences with the complaining witness.
- 4. The court erred when it failed to consider relevant evidence of appellant's experiences with the complaining witness in making its decision not to instruct the jury on self-defense.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Appellant was charged with second degree assault with a deadly weapon. He claimed self-defense. Where appellant presented evidence that he pulled out a knife during his confrontation with the complaining witness because he believed the witness was reaching for a gun, was appellant's due process right to present a defense violated when the court refused to instruct the jury on the defense theory that appellant acted in self-defense?
- 2. Where the defense is self-defense jurors must consider past experiences in assessing the reasonableness of a defendant's actions. Appellant presented evidence that a few months before the confrontation

with the complaining witness, the witness threatened appellant. The evidence impacted appellant's perceptions and reactions to the threat he perceived. The court not only excluded the evidence of the threats, it failed to consider the evidence in its determination of appellant's self-defense claim.

- a. Did the court err in excluding the evidence?
- b. Did the court err in failing to consider the evidence in its assessment on whether appellant was entitled to a self-defense claim?
- 3. The State presented evidence appellant pulled out a knife and brandished it toward the complaining witness causing the witness fear of bodily harm. The appellant acknowledge he pulled out a knife and held it by his side. The court reasoned because appellant testified he held the knife by his side he failed to acknowledge there was an assault and therefore he was not entitled to a self-defense claim. Was the court's reason for rejecting appellant's self-defense claim insufficient as a matter of law?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The Skagit County Prosecutor's Office charged Christopher Ackley with second degree assault with a deadly weapon. CP 75. The

information alleged Ackley intentionally assaulted James O'Connor with a knife. <u>Id</u>.

Ackley's defense theory was self-defense and he proposed self-defense instructions. CP 53-63. The court refused to instruct the jury on Ackley's self-defense theory, which is more fully explained below.

A jury found Ackley guilty as charged. CP 90. Ackley was sentenced to a standard range sentence of 17 months based on his offender score. CP 74-74.

Ackley timely appealed his judgment and sentence. CP 28.

2. Substantive Facts

a. State's Case

James O'Connor and Ackley both live in Mount Vernon, Washington. Ackley's wife, Julie Ackley, is O'Connor's cousin. 1RP 106, 157. Sometime in 2012, while Ackley was in California, Julie Ackley allegedly had an affair with O'Connor's brother-in-law, who was married to O'Connor's sister. 1RP 159, 171-172; 2RP 153. O'Connor discovered the affair when he saw Ackley's wife and his brother-in-law at a restaurant O'Connor owned at the time. 1RP 172. According to

¹ 1RP refers to the verbatim report of proceedings (VRP) for August 3, 2015; 2RP the VRP for August 4, 2015, the morning of August 5, 2015, and October 2, 2015; 3RP the VRP for the afternoon of August 5, 2015 and October 1, 2015.

O'Connor the affair ended a few days before Ackley returned from California. <u>Id</u>.

A few years later, in early 2014, O'Connor decided to reveal that he knew about the affair to Ackley's wife, his sister and his mother. 1RP 173; 2RP 153. The affair became a topic of discussion within the family. 1RP 159, 173. Ackley was angry with O'Connor for discussing the affair with family members. 1RP 107, 159, 173.

On two occasions in early March 2015, firecrackers were thrown from a car at O'Connor's home. 1RP 108. The first time it happened O'Connor was on business trip and only his wife, Angie O'Connor, was at home. <u>Id</u>. O'Connor was home when it happened the second time. 1RP 108, 160.

O'Connor reported the incidents to police. The O'Connor home is equipped with a surveillance camera. Although O'Connor and his wife viewed the video from the camera and testified they recognized Ackley's car, O'Connor told police it was too dark to see anything on the video and he did not let police view the video. 1RP 108, 160: 2RP 160-161.

On May 15, 2015, O'Connor and his wife were on a walk. They were holding hands and O'Connor was walking on the outside of his wife on street side of sidewalk. 1RP 109-110, 127-128, 161-163, 183-184. Ackley happened to drive by them. Ackley's daughter was in the car with

him. 1RP 111, 117, 164-165. As he drove by Ackley said something to O'Connor. Ackley then turned his car around, parked perpendicular to the sidewalk, and got out of the car. 1RP 111, 164-165.

When Ackley got out of his car, O'Connor's wife started to backup and O'Connor turned to face Ackley. 1RP 129. Ackley, who was about 20 feet from O'Connor, reached into his pocket, pulled out a knife and waved it at O'Connor. 1RP 112, 115, 165, 189-190, 192. Ackley started walking toward O'Connor and said, "I will slice you open bitch." RP 165 (8/3/2015). O'Connor testified he put his hands up in the air and told his wife to run and call 911. 1RP 167, 191. O'Connor then asked Ackley what he was going to do with knife. 1RP 165.

While O'Connor's wife was running to find a phone she heard Ackley tell O'Connor that he was "going to slice you open bitch." 1RP 132. O'Connor's wife ran up to Jill Salas, who was close by, and Salas noticed she had tears on her face and was obviously upset. 1RP 139. O'Connor's wife asked Salas if she could borrow Salas' phone to call police. 1RP 138. O'Connor's wife used Salas' phone and called 911. When she was on the phone with 911 she heard O'Connor and Ackley saying things to each other. 1RP 116, 134. Salas heard two men swearing at each other and one of them said, "leave us alone." 1RP 144-146.

While O'Connor's wife was on the phone, O'Connor and Ackley confronted each other. O'Connor testified that he asked Ackley why he had knife. 1RP 192. When he saw that his wife was on the phone with 911 O'Connor started yelling at Ackley that the police were coming. 1RP 168. Ackley then got back into his car and drove away. <u>Id</u>. Both O'Connor and his wife said they scared and afraid. 1RP 115, 168.

Officer Chantelle VanDyke responded to the 911 call and spoke with O'Connor and his wife. 2RP 15-16. On cross examination O'Connor denied he stepped out and raised his hands towards Ackley when Ackley drove by. 2RP 8-9. He said he did not raise his hands until Ackley pulled out the knife. 2RP 10. However, O'Connor told VanDyke that when Ackley drove by and yelled at him he turned and raised his hands toward Ackley's car. 2RP 36. O'Connor told VanDyke that Ackley then turned the car around, and that when Ackley got out of the car he pulled out a knife, held the knife towards O'Connor and said he was going to slice him. Id.

After VanDyke spoke with O'Connor and his wife, police went to Ackley's home. His home is only a few blocks away from where he and O'Connor confronted each other. 2RP 18. Ackley was in his garage and the garage door was open. <u>Id</u>. VanDyke called to Ackley and he came out and spoke with her. 2RP 19. Ackley told VanDyke he had done

something stupid. 2RP 19. When VanDyke told Ackley that he was going to be arrested, Ackley told VanDyke he suffered from PSTD, and anxiety and that when he saw O'Connor he yelled out the window of his car "suck it bitch." 2RP 20-21, 31. Ackley admitted that he pulled out a knife and said that he thought about hurting O'Connor but his "better judgment" told him not to and he set the knife down. 2RP 20. Ackley also wanted to show VanDyke what he said were threatening text messages he received from O'Connor a few months earlier but she did not look at the messages because she did not believe the messages were relevant to her investigation. 2RP 19-20, 33.

b. Defense Case

Ackley testified that after he moved back to Mount Vernon he studied drug and alcohol counseling at Skagit Valley College. He also worked for a few months at the Skagit Valley Recovery Center helping youth go through detoxification. 2RP 63-65.

Ackley admitted he felt animosity towards O'Connor because O'Connor had told him that Ackley's wife cheated on Ackley a few years earlier. 2RP 119. He also admitted he threw the firecrackers at O'Connor's house because he wanted to disturb O' Connor's sleep. 2RP 115.

The last time Ackley spoke with O'Connor was the February before the May confrontation. During that conversation, in reference to O'Connor's revelation that Ackley's wife had an affair, Ackley told O'Connor not to bring O'Connor's family drama into his family, and to keep Ackley's wife's name out of his (O'Connor's) mouth. 2RP 111-113. O'Connor hung up on Ackley but before he did O'Connor told Ackley he wanted to continue the conversation. 2RP 113-114.

O'Connor also testified that during the conversation Ackley told him to keep his (Ackley's) wife's name out of his mouth. 2RP 156. O'Connor was out of town at the time and he admitted that he told Ackley that when he returned they would talk again, and that at some point during the conversation he hung up on Ackley. 2RP 157.

Ackley testified that on May 15, 2014, he was driving his daughter home from softball practice when he saw O'Connor and O'Connor's wife walking. Out of his car's window he yelled to O'Connor "suck it bitch." 2RP 66-67. When he looked in the rear view mirror after passing O'Connor, he saw O'Connor raise his hands in the air in a manner that Ackley believed indicated O'Connor wanted to talk to him. 2RP 68. Ackley turned his car, stopped perpendicular to the sidewalk and got out. 2RP 69.

As Ackley got out of the car O'Connor quickly put his hands down to his waist and pulled his shirt up. 2RP 71, 73. Ackley, who grew up in Los Angeles, explained it was a dangerous city when he was growing up and that what flashed through his mind when O'Connor pulled up his shirt was that O'Connor was going to pull a gun on him. 2RP 72, 120. In response Ackley pulled out his pocketknife, clicked the blade out, and held it down by his side. 2RP 72, 73. O'Connor then asked Ackley in loud voice what his was going to do with the knife and if Ackley was going to "slice" him. 2RP 74. Ackley took a few steps towards O'Connor and O'Connor again asked Ackley what he was going to do with knife. Ackley thought he might have said something to O'Connor but after a few seconds he realized O'Connor did not have a gun. 2RP 74-75. At that point Ackley did not believe he needed a weapon to defend himself so he closed the knife, walked back toward his car, and threw the knife inside. 2RP 76.

Ackley then asked O'Connor if there was something O'Connor wanted to talk about. O'Connor told Ackley that his wife was calling police, that he did not have anything to say to Ackley, and he asked Ackley to please leave. 2RP 79-80. Their conversation was loud and laced with profanities. 2RP 80, 134. Ackley got back into his car and drove home. <u>Id</u>.

When VanDyke and another officer came to his house a short time later, Ackley asked if they were there because of something stupid he had done. Ackley was referring to yelling at O'Connor and putting his young daughter in a dangerous situation. 2RP 83-84. Ackley explained to the officers he stopped because he saw O'Connor raise his hands as he drove by. 2RP 105. Ackley also wanted the officer to hear a message on his phone. 2RP 85.

Ackley admitted that pulling out the knife was stupid but that he did it in reaction to O'Connor lifting his shirt. He believed O'Connor was going for a gun and he pulled out his knife to defend himself. 2RP 106, 124, 127.

c. Additional Facts Pertaining to Assignments of Error

The defense theory was self-defense. Prior to O'Connor's testimony Ackley moved to admit the message O'Connor left on Ackley's phone about two months before the May 15 confrontation. The message refers to Ackley being in prison and O'Connor threatens Ackley. 1RP 148-153; CP 89 (transcript of the message). Ackley argued the message was relevant to Ackley's self-defense claim because it was evidence of Ackley's state of mind at the time of the confrontation. RP 149-150. The court reserved ruling on admission of the recording because at that point in

the trial the court did not believe Ackley had established he acted in self-defense, and therefore the recording was not relevant. 1RP 153-154, 156.

During Ackley's testimony, and after he testified that he pulled out his knife to defend himself because he believed O'Connor had a gun when O'Connor lifted his shirt, defense counsel asked Ackley about the phone message he received from O'Connor. 2RP 85. The State objected and there was another lengthy discussion about the message and Ackley's self-defense claim. 2RP 86-104.

Ackley argued that based on O'Connor's and Ackley's testimony the jury could infer that Ackley pulled out the knife to create an apprehension of fear of bodily injury. 2RP 98-101. Because he believed O'Connor had a gun when he lifted his shirt, Ackley pulled out his knife to defend himself. 2RP 100-101, 103-104. Therefore, the evidence that O'Connor left a threatening message on Ackley's phone a couple of months earlier was relevant to Ackley's belief that when O'Connor lifted his shirt he was going to get a weapon. 2RP 94.

The court ruled the phone message evidence was not relevant because Ackley was not entitled to a self-defense instruction. 2RP 104. The court reasoned Ackley was required to acknowledge he committed second degree assault before he was entitled to claim self-defense, and because he testified he held the knife at his side "...there isn't an assault,

and therefore there can't be a justifiable assault." 2RP 104. The court concluded, "...therefore there isn't any need for self-defense instructions." 2RP 103.

Later, again during Ackley's testimony, counsel requested permission to examine Ackley about a conversation O'Connor and Ackley had in late January or early February. Counsel made an offer of proof that part if the conversation included threats. 2RP 108. The court ruled Ackley could testify he had a conversation with O'Connor and O'Connor told him they would talk again because it supported Ackley's testimony that when O'Connor raised his arms Ackley believed O'Connor wanted to talk to him and that was why he stopped his car. The court also ruled, however, that defense counsel could not examine Ackley about any threats O'Connor made during that call. <u>Id</u>.

After Ackley testified, defense counsel renewed her request that the court instruct the jury on self-defense. 2RP 142-143; see, CP 53-63 (defense proposed instructions). In the alternative counsel proposed the court instruct the jury on the alternative definition of assault as an act that requires unlawful force.² And, further, based on the court's earlier ruling that by pulling the knife out of his pocket and holding to his side Ackley

² Washington Pattern Jury Instruction (WPIC) 35.50; CP 57.

did not commit an assault, counsel requested that the court instruct the jury that act did not constitute unlawful force. 2RP 144-145.

The court denied the requests. It reasoned:

Number one, Mr. Ackley did not use force when he held the knife down next to his leg, and its very difficult for to see that my reasonable juror could find that he was presented with a need to protect himself simply by Mr. O'Connor pulling on his shirt.

And I do read RCW 9.41.270³ to require a use of presently threatened unlawful force, or use of unlawful force, and we don't have that here. What we have is Mr. Ackley's testimony that Mr. O'Connor pulled up his shirt in a way that Mr. Ackley felt demonstrated the fact that he might have a gun under there simply because of – apparently Mr. Ackley's experience in L.A. So this not a self-defense case either for the unlawful display of a weapon or for the Assault in the Second Degree.

2RP 146-147.

After the defense rested its case, the court reiterated it would not instruct the jury on self-defense, nor include the unlawful force definition of assault. 2RP 163. Ackley took exception to the court's definition of assault instruction, and objected to the court's failure to instruct the jury on his proposed instructions. 3RP 1.

³ "It shall be unlawful for any person to carry, exhibit, display, or draw any firearm, dagger, sword, knife or other cutting or stabbing instrument, club, or any other weapon apparently capable of producing bodily harm, in a manner, under circumstances, and at a time and place that either manifests an intent to intimidate another or that warrants alarm for the safety of other persons." RCW 9.41.270(1).

The court again explained its reasons for not instructing the jury on self-defense. It found Ackley's testimony did not describe an assault, and that a reasonable person would not be afraid of injury because someone lifts up the front of his shirt. 3RP 3-4.

C. ARGUMENT

THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON ACKLEY'S SELF-DEFENSE CLAIM VIOLATED ACKLEY'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE.

Ackley was charged with second degree assault with a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c). Assault is defined as: "(1) an unlawful touching (actual battery); (2) an attempt with unlawful force to inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but failing to accomplish it (attempted battery); and (3) putting another in apprehension of harm." State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 215, 207 P.3d 439 (2009). There was no evidence Ackley committed an actual battery or attempted battery. The State's theory was that Ackley intentionally placed O'Connor in apprehension of harm, and the court instructed the jury on that definition of assault. CP 38 (Instruction No. 7).

Ackley's defense theory was that during his confrontation with O'Connor he pulled out his knife because he believed O'Connor was going for a weapon when O'Connor lifted up his shirt. Although the

evidence supported Ackley's self-defense claim the court refused to instruct the jury on self-defense. The refusal to instruct the jury on self-defense denied Ackley his constitutional right to present a defense.

a. <u>Due process requires the court instruct the jury on</u>
the defense theory of self-defense where there is
some evidence to support a self-defense claim

A defendant is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case whenever there is evidence to support it. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 461, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000); State v. Ager, 128 Wn.2d 85, 93, 904 P.2d 715 (1995). State v. Theroff, 95 Wn.2d 385, 389, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980). That entitlement is constitutionally mandated. Due process⁴ requires that jury instructions (1) allow the parties to argue all theories of their respective cases supported by sufficient evidence, (2) fully instruct the jury on the defense theory, (3) inform the jury of the applicable law, and (4) give the jury discretion to decide questions of fact. State v. Koch, 157 Wn.App. 20, 33, 237 P.3d 287 (2010) (citations omitted), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1022, 245 P.3d 773 (2011).

Due process also requires the State prove all elements of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. That includes proving the absence of

⁴ U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art I, § 3.

self-defense. <u>State v. Acosta</u>, 101 Wn.2d 612, 615-616, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984).

In the context of a self-defense claim it has long been held that if there is merely some evidence to support a claim of self-defense the issue is properly raised. State v. Werner, 170 Wn.2d 333, 336–37, 241 P.3d 410 (2010); State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997); State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). "The defendant's burden of 'some evidence' of self-defense is a low burden." State v. George, 161 Wn.App. 86, 96, 249 P.3d 202, review denied, 172 Wash.2d 1007, 259 P.3d 1108 (2011) (quoting State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 237, 850 P.2d 495 (1993)). Indeed, it is not even necessary that the evidence create a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jurors, and a court is justified in refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense only where there is no credible evidence to support a self-defense claim. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d at 488.

To determine whether a defendant is entitled to instructions on self-defense the court must view the evidence from the standpoint of a reasonable person who "knows all the defendant knows and sees all the defendant sees." State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 242, 53 P.3d 26 (2002). This standard incorporates both a subjective and objective element. <u>Id.</u> at 242-243. When subjectively assessing a defendant's self-defense claim,

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