FILED July 18, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 74062-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER THOMAS ACKLEY, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable Susan K. Cook, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: HALEY W. SEBENS, WSBA#43320 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 336-9460

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defendant did not admit to using force in self-defense. Further, an objective review of what a reasonable person in the same situation would have thought does not support giving a self-defense instruction. The defendant never established the necessity of force where he testified that the only immediate threat he perceived was the victim lifting his shirt after the defendant initiated the aggressive encounter. The record and explanation of how the Honorable Judge Susan Cook, trial judge, reached this decision is clear.

II. ISSUES

1. Where the defendant initiated the aggressive contact, denied assaulting the victim, and did not establish evidence to support the necessity to justify use of force in self-defense, did the trial court err in declining to provide a self-defense jury instruction? Answer: No.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The State's Evidence

Ackley and Mr. O'Connor are cousins by marriage. 08/03/2015 RP

106, 157. Ackley and Mr. O'Connor's conflict is believed to have stemmed

from statements made by Mr.O'Connor about an affair he believed to have

taken place between his cousin, the defendant's wife, and another man.

08/03/2015 RP 108, 158-59. The defendant began targeting the O'Connor's

home with disruptive acts, throwing firecrackers from his car towards their home early in the morning or throwing eggs at their house and vehicle. 08/03/2015 RP 107-108, 119-26, 159-60, 178. These incidents were captured on the O'Connor's home surveillance cameras. 08/03/2015 RP 107-108, 119-26, 159-60, 178.

On May 15, 2014, Jimmy O'Connor and his wife, Angie O'Connor, went for a leisurely walk in Bakerview Park near Vaux Center in Mount Vernon. 08/03/2015 RP 109-11, 160-61. As they walked Westbound on Fir Street they saw the defendant's car heading Eastbound, the defendant screaming towards them from his open window. 08/03/2015 RP 130, 164. The defendant quickly whipped his car around, cutting off another vehicle, pulled perpendicular into the curb blocking the road, and "flung the door open." 08/03/2015 RP 111-12, 128-30, 164. He jumped out of his vehicle, leaving his car door open and abandoning his seven to eight year-old daughter in the car, and moved towards the O'Connors. 08/03/2015 RP 112, 117, 131, 165-67, 193; 08/04/2015 RP 67. The defendant's young daughter leaned out the car window to watch the encounter. 08/03/2015 RP 193.

Mr. O'Connor stopped and pushed his scared wife, pushing her behind him to protect her from the approaching defendant. 08/03/2015 RP 112, 117, 135, 189,191. The defendant reached into his pocket and pulled out a closed switchblade knife, then clicked it open. 08/03/2015 RP 112,

115, 165-66, 193. The defendant stated, "I will slice you open, bitch," while advancing, knife blade straight out pointing towards Mr. O'Connor. 08/03/2015 RP 116, 131, 166. Mr. O'Connor told his wife to run away and call 911, which she did. 08/03/2015 RP 116, 167. The defendant was within twenty feet of Mr. O'Connor, steadily stepping closer, continuing to threaten to "slice" Mr. O'Connor. 08/03/2015 RP 115-116,166, 192.

"[W]hy do you have a knife, Chris? What are you going to do with that knife, Chris," Mr. O'Connor repeatedly asks, hands up in the air after he sees the defendant with the knife. 08/03/2015 RP 116-117, 166, 191-92; 08/04/2015 RP 9. On cross-examination, Mr. O'Connor repeatedly maintains that there is no point prior to the defendant pulling out his knife that he raises his hands nor does he ever lift his shirt. 08/03/2015 RP 187; 08/04/2015 RP 8-10. Mr. O'Connor sees his wife and two bystanders out of the corner of his eye, Mrs. O'Connor on the phone with the police. 08/03/2015 RP 168. Mr. O'Connor yells to the defendant that the police are on their way and, after two or three times of yelling this, the defendant flees to his vehicle and drives away. 08/03/2015 RP 168.

Officer Chantelle VanDyk responded to a "call that someone had pulled up to the reporting party and had exited a vehicle and displayed a knife and threatened them". 08/04/2015 RP 15. Officer VanDyk approached the O'Connors, Mrs. O'Connor with tears in her eyes, visibly

shaking, and her husband comforting her. 08/04/2015 15. The O'Connors reported the event to Officer VanDyk. 08/03/2015 RP 168; 08/04/2015 16. Fearful the defendant may be waiting for them, the O'Connors requested a courtesy ride home from Officer VanDykto make sure it was safe. 08/03/2015 RP 117-118, 168-69; 08/04/2015 17-18.

When the defendant assaulted Mr. O'Connor with his switchblade knife Mr. O'Connor did not have a weapon. 08/03/2015 RP 169.

After taking the O'Connors home, officers went to the defendant's residence to investigate the allegations of assault. 08/04/2015 RP 19. After being called out of his garage by the police, the defendant approached the officer stating that he did something stupid. 08/04/2015 RP 19. Officer VanDyk then informed him that he was under arrest. 08/04/2015 RP 34. Then, the defendant attempted to show Officer VanDyk text messages that were on his phone from February of 2014, three months prior to the assault, which he alleged were threatening. 08/04/2015. Officer VanDyk did not read the months old text messages because she determined they were not relevant to the incident which took place on that day in mid-May. 08/04/2015 RP 20. VanDyk testified that, "typically when somebody is threatened they don't instigate contact if they're afraid of what's going on".

The defendant told Officer VanDyk that he did pull out a knife, wanting to harm Mr. O'Connor when he confronted him, but that he changed his mind and set the knife down, instead wanting to talk to Mr. O'Connor. 08/04/2015 RP 20, 34-35. He claimed to suffer from PTSD and anxiety and that when he saw Mr. O'Connor he got upset and yelled from his car window for Mr. O'Connor to "suck it, bitch." 08/04/2015 RP 20-21, 34. The defendant stated he was approximately twenty feet from Mr. O'Connor. 08/04/2015 RP 20-21. Officer VanDyk recovered the switchblade knife the defendant used in the assault from the defendant's right, front jean pocket. 08/04/2015 RP 21.

2. Testimony of the Defendant

The defendant testified that that he did throw fireworks out near the O'Connors' residence on two occasions following a phone conversation with Mr. O'Connor, although he denied ever throwing eggs at their vehicle. 08/04/2015 RP 114. The defendant testified that his family had told him to let go his anger towards Mr. O'Connor, but he couldn't get his mind off of it so he decided to "be a butthead and drive by his house and throw out a string of fireworks and disturb his sleep." 08/04/2015 RP 115.

On May 15, 2014, the defendant was driving on Fir Street with his, at the time, seven-year-old daughter, Makenna. 08/04/2015 RP 67. While driving, he saw Jimmy O'Connor walking on the sidewalk and yelled "suck it, bitch," out of his car window. 08/04/2015 RP 67. The defendant saw Mr. O'Connor raise his hands in the air and interpreted the gesture to mean,

"come on back, we'll talk." 08/04/2015 RP 68. The defendant "pulled my car perpendicular to traffic" making a half U-turn, stopping other cars, blocking off traffic, and parking across traffic pointing towards Bakerview Park. 08/04/2015 RP69-70, 118. He chose to park his car this way so there would be "witnesses to what was about to happen, if anything happened." 08/04/2015 RP 128. He turned his car around because it was a "reflex response" to Mr. O'Connor's raised hands. 08/04/2015 RP 81. His intention at the time was that he and Mr. O'Connor were either going to talk or fight. 08/04/2015 RP 128. He testified that he could have kept driving, but he is a "prideful individual," he was frustrated, and he was reacting. 08/04/2015 RP 134.

When the defendant stepped out of his car, "Jimmy O'Connor pulled his hands down rather quickly and pulled his shirt up or started to pull his shirt up, and what flashed through my mind, I grew up in L.A., California, and it flashed on me that this could turn into a bad situation , and I thought he was going to pull a gun on me. 08/04/2015 RP 71-72. Mr. O'Connor pulling up his shirt prompted the defendant to pull out his knife. 08/04/2015 RP 73, 81. Getting out of the car and pulling out the knife was just a reaction. 08/04/2015 RP 122. Then, "it clicked in my head, my hand went from my pocket, and I snapped my knife out, and I held it down by my leg." 08/04/2015 RP 72. He described pushing the trigger on the knife to click it

open, displaying the blade that was previously folded, and then holding it down by his side. 08/04/2015 RP 74.

The defendant steps toward Mr. O'Connor while Mr. O'Connor repeatedly asks what the defendant intends to do with his knife in his hand and if the defendant intends to harm him. 08/04/2015 RP 74, 78. Mr. O'Connor backs away from the defendant. 08/04/2015 RP 126. He felt that Mr. O'Connor was trying to antagonize him into "using the knife that I had just produced." 08/04/2015 RP 120. The defendant describes his thoughts, testifying that "my mind is trying to catch up, it just went from he's going to pull a gun on me, I need to protect myself, to now he's asking me questions about what I'm going to do with my weapon." 08/04/2015 RP 75. Mr. O'Connor did not have a gun, knife, or produce any other weapon. 08/04/2015 RP 118. The defendant realizes he is "in a bad situation." 08/04/2015 RP 75-76. The defendant then closes his knife, tosses it on the seat of his car, and started walking back towards Mr. O'Connor asking him if he had something he wanted to talk about now. 08/04/2015 RP 76, 79. Because he had put the knife back in his car, the defendant did not think there was any issue. 08/04/2015 RP 124.

In describing the end of the interaction between Mr. O'Connor and himself, the defendant stated it was "like, hey, look, my wife is scared, the police are on their way, would you just please leave, can you just leave? Because, I mean, are you sure you don't want to talk about something? No? All right. Please leave. Okay. And I didn't want to scare his wife. His wife isn't -- I mean, I barely even know his wife." 08/04/2015 RP 135.

According to the defendant, "[t]his is all about me and Jimmy." 08/04/2015 RP 135.

The defendant confirmed at least three more times throughout his testimony that the knife was down at his side throughout the encounter. 08/04/2015 RP 74, 80, 106. He claimed that by having his knife at his side he was defending himself. 08/04/2015 RP 106.

When law enforcement arrived at his home, he met with the officers and told them he had done something stupid. 08/04/2015 RP 83. When asked to clarify what he meant by that, he said "[t]he fact that I yelled something out the window. The fact that I was trying to reduce the drama in the situation and it had escalated instead. The fact that I had my daughter with me, and I stopped and possibly put her in a dangerous situation. There was a couple of reasons." 08/04/2015 RP 83-84.

3. Self-Defense Theory Analysis

Prior to Mr. O'Connor's testimony, the trial court addressed the admissibility of a voicemail message alleged to have taken place prior to the assault between the defendant and Mr. O'Connor. 08/03/2015 RP 148. Because there had not yet been any evidence of self-defense, the voicemail

message was not admitted. 08/03/2015 RP 154. The trial court held that admitting the voicemail message at that point without evidence of selfdefense would be "very prejudicial, it's very distracting, and it's not relevant. 08/03/2015 RP 154. When the State closes its case, the court rules that there has still not been any evidence of self-defense presented and the court will not make rulings regarding self-defense until such evidence is presented. 08/04/2015 RP 42.

On direct examination of the defendant he is asked about the voicemail message previously ruled inadmissible. 08/03/2015 RP 154. The the trial court excuses the jury to hear argument by the parties on sufficiency of the evidence of self-defense. 08/04/2015 RP 84-85. Based on the defense's argument regarding Mr. O'Connor's lifting his shirt as an act instilling fear in the defendant to justify self-defense, the trial court reasoned that "[w]hat you're asking me to do... is find that the gesture of grabbing your shirt and starting to pull it up is an aggressive act that justifies the use of force." 08/04/2015 RP 90.

The trial court analyzed whether the defendant had testified that he used force at all so as to allow for a justified Assault Second finding. 08/04/2015 RP 91. The trial court reasoned that using a self-defense theory requires the defendant must first admit to the use of force and then that it was force justified in self-defense. 08/04/2015 RP 92. Here, the trial court

found, the defendant testified that "he had a knife in his hand, he held it down at his side, and he made no threats to Mr. O'Connor." 08/04/2015 RP 92. Thus, "he hasn't committed an Assault in the Second Degree. There is no need to justify his assault. There's no need to justify his use of force. Because he hasn't committed a use of force." 08/04/2015 RP 93. The trial court held that the defendant could not claim that there was a justified assault second under self-defense theory. 08/04/2015 RP 94-96. "[I]n order to have a justified Assault Second, you have to say that you committed an Assault Second, and then you go on to justify it. He is saying I didn't commit an Assault Second." 08/04/2015 RP 96.

Following conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, the defense renewed its request for a self-defense instruction and to present evidence of self-defense. 08/05/2014 RP 143. The court denied the request, finding there was not sufficient facts presented to support that Mr. O'Connor raising his shirt justified use of unlawful force in self-defense or that the defendant admitted to using force at all. 08/04/2015 RP 146-47. At the conclusion of trial the court reiterated that there would be no self-defense instruction because this case has no self-defense. 08/04/2015 RP 164.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED PROVIDING THE INSTRUCTION WHERE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A SELF-DEFENSE CLAIM

To determine whether a defendant is entitled to a self-defense instruction, the trial court must view the evidence from the standpoint of a reasonably prudent person who knows all the defendant knows and sees all the defendant sees. State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 242-43, 53 P.3d 26 (2002) (citing State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 772, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)). In determining whether a defendant has produced sufficient evidence to show reasonable apprehension of harm, the trial court must apply a mixed subjective and objective analysis. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 772. A trial court's decision to give a jury instruction is reviewed de novo if based upon a matter of law, or for abuse of discretion if based upon a matter of fact. See id. The question of whether the defendant has produced sufficient evidence to raise a claim of self-defense is a matter of law for the trial court. State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238 n.7, 850 P.2d 495 (1993).

1. <u>A Reasonable Person in the Defendant's Shoes</u> Would Not Have Believed A Threat was Present

The trial court refused to give a self-defense instruction because it found no reasonable person in the defendant's shoes would have acted as the defendant acted, an issue of law, and the standard of review is de novo. State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 243, 53 P.3d 26 (2002). Considering both the subjective and objective inquiries necessary for assessing the reasonable person in the defendant's shoes, the trial court must determine whether the defendant produced any evidence to support the claim he or she subjectively believed in good faith that he or she was in danger and whether this belief, viewed objectively, was reasonable. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 773 (citing State v. Bell, 60 Wn. App. 561, 567, 805 P.2d 815 (1991)). The question is what a reasonable person would have done if placed in the defendant's situation. Id.; State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900-01, 913 P.2d 369 (1996). The objective part of the standard "keeps self-defense firmly rooted in the narrow concept of necessity." Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 773 (citing Janes, 121 Wn.2d at 240).

Here, the trial judge heard all of the testimony, observed the demeanor of the witnesses, and reviewed all of the evidence. The trial judge had the opportunity to view the defendant in court and while he testified. The trial judge was in the best position to hear and weigh the evidence to determine if any of it supported the defendant's self-defense claim. *See Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 777-78, 966 P.2d 883 (1998).

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